STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

MAR 26 2018

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-001742  
Lower Court Case No. 2015-CP-32-1885

---

JUAN ARROYO, #354538,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

**JEREMY A. THOMPSON**  
Attorney and Counselor at Law

Law Office of Jeremy A. Thompson, LLC  
P.O. Box 1834  
Irmo, SC 29063  
(803) 779-2555  
(803) 753-9732 FAX

**ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.**

QUESTION PRESENTED

I.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to properly advise the Petitioner of all plea offers conveyed by the State?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner, Juan Arroyo, was one of numerous co-defendants charged with conspiracy to traffic heroin (Count I) by the State Grand Jury. The Petitioner was also charged with several substantive counts of trafficking heroin arising out of Horry and Georgetown Counties (Counts IV, VI, and VII). See App. pp. 593-598. On November 10, 14-15, 2011, the Petitioner proceeded to trial on Counts I and IV. The Petitioner was represented at this trial by Debra R. Chapman, Esquire. This trial ended in a mistrial. On March 4-5, 2013, the Petitioner proceeded to trial again,<sup>1</sup> this time solely for Count IV. The Petitioner was represented at trial by Attorney Chapman and Bradley M. Kirkland, Esquire. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found the Petitioner guilty as charged. The Honorable William P. Keesley, presiding circuit judge, sentenced the Petitioner to twenty-five years' imprisonment.

The Petitioner timely appealed his convictions and sentences to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals dismissed his appeal pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). State v. Arroyo, Op. No. 2014-UP-338 (S.C. Ct. App. filed September 24, 2014); App. pp. 583-584. The remittitur was issued on October 10, 2014. App. p. 585.

On May 22, 2015, the Petitioner filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief with the Lexington County Clerk of Court. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on April 18, 2017, before the Honorable Robert E. Hood, presiding circuit judge. On June 2, 2017, the PCR court filed an Order of Dismissal which denied relief on all of the Petitioner's claims. App. pp. 749-761. The Petitioner timely filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to reconsider the judgment. App. pp. 762-766. Judge Hood denied this motion in a Form 4 memorandum order. App. pp. 767-

---

<sup>1</sup> Both trials were held in Lexington County.

768. The Petitioner served his Notice of Appeal from Judge Hood's orders on August 17, 2017, and this Court received the notice on August 21, 2017.

Notice of appeal was timely served and filed. The Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. There is no evidence to support the PCR court's conclusion that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to sufficiently convey the State's plea offer.**

#### A. How the Issue Arose Below

Although there were numerous allegations against the Petitioner, the only charge for which he was convicted consisted of a controlled drug purchase that was recorded on video. Attorney Chapman described the evidence as strong and that it was her opinion that “he would be convicted” if he proceeded to trial. App. p. 628, line 3. Due to the substantial nature of the evidence against the Petitioner, he agreed to cooperate with the State and signed a proffer agreement. Throughout the course of his cooperation, the Petitioner was interviewed approximately three to four times. See App. p. 625, lines 7-21. Attorney Chapman assumed that the case would result in a plea following the Petitioner's cooperation. See App. p. 625, line 22-p. 626, line 3.

The State's initial plea offer was to a negotiated eighteen years, and the Petitioner rejected the offer. See App. pp. 628-630. After the Petitioner rejected that offer, the State returned with a written plea offer that stated: “The parties have negotiated the sentence of Defendant, Juan Rodolpho Arroyo, for a recommended sentencing range of fourteen (14) to eighteen (18) years.” App. p. 739. This document was dated October 17, 2011. A sentencing sheet was also prepared which stated that the sentence had a negotiated range of 14-18 years. App. p. 744. Attorney Chapman testified that the written plea agreement was incorrect, and that the sentencing sheet reflected her understanding of the agreement:

Q. The plea agreement reads recommended sentencing range of 14 to 18 years, but the sentencing sheet reads negotiated 14 to 18 years.

A. I don't know why they put negotiated. That's not my writing. But what the deal was we could argue anything between the 14 and 18. So we negotiated, I guess you could say because it carries 7 to 25, it

was a lesser included offense than what he was charged with and I guess negotiated is that he would have to at least get 14, no more than 18.

App. p. 633, lines 10-18.

Based on the discrepancy between the written plea agreement and the sentencing sheet, the Petitioner argued in an amended PCR application that defense counsel was ineffective for “failure to effectively communicate all plea offers to Applicant and the sentencing possibilities under such offers.” App. p. 609. At the PCR hearing, the Petitioner testified that he had been informed that the plea carried a negotiated range of fifteen to eighteen years, and that he had rejected that offer. App. pp. 677-680. He further testified that he would have accepted the written plea offer had he known that he could receive a sentence lower than fourteen years under its terms. App. pp. 681-682; see also App. p. 685, lines 10-17.

The PCR court denied relief on this claim, finding that “Counsel not only communicated the offer to Applicant, but pled with him numerous times to accept the offer.” App. p. 755. The PCR court further concluded that “the weight of the evidence shows that the offer was actually a range of fourteen (14) to eighteen (18) years.” App. p. 755. The Petitioner now contends that the PCR court’s findings are unsupported by any probative evidence and that certiorari should be granted to review them.

#### B. Standard of Review

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee every criminal defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to prove a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to sufficiently convey a plea offer, the moving party must show that defense counsel (1) failed to provide him with reasonable professional assistance of counsel under the prevailing standards for

attorneys representing clients in criminal matters; and (2) that the outcome of the plea process would have been different with competent advice. Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156 (2012); see also Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134 (2012).

On appeal, a PCR court's findings will be upheld if there is any evidence of probative value supporting them. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 155, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). "The appellate court will reverse the PCR court only where there is either no probative evidence to support the decision or the decision was controlled by an error of law." Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 455, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011).

### C. Discussion

"Where language used in an instrument is perfectly plain and capable of legal construction, such language determines the force and effect of the instrument." State v. Gates, 299 S.C. 92, 95, 382 S.E.2d 886, 887 (1989). Additionally, "[t]he necessary elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration. A valid offer 'identifies the bargained for exchange and creates a power of acceptance in the offeree.'" Sauner v. Public Service Authority of South Carolina, 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003) (quoting Carolina Amusement Co. v. Connecticut Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 313 S.C. 215, 437 S.E.2d 122 (Ct. App. 1993). "[A] plea agreement is nothing more than an offer until it is approved by a court." Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing United States v. Papaleo, 853 F.2d 16 (1st Cir. 1988)).

The Petitioner contends that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to advise the Petitioner that he could require the State to abide by the more favorable terms set forth in the written plea agreement. The following facts are uncontroverted. The written plea agreement stated that the sentencing range was a recommended fourteen to eighteen years. The offer conveyed to

the Petitioner was for a negotiated sentence. Defense counsel did not convey to the Petitioner that he could receive a sentence below the fourteen-year range if he accepted the plea agreement.

The written plea agreement, consequently, contained a written offer made by the State for a *recommended* sentencing range of fourteen to eighteen years. Since defense counsel did not convey these terms to the Petitioner, defense counsel's performance was clearly deficient. See Frye, 566 U.S. at 145 ("This Court now holds that, as a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused.") The PCR court's finding that all plea offers were properly conveyed, consequently, is unsupported by any probative evidence as it is directly contradicted by the record.

Having established deficient performance, the Petitioner turns to the question of prejudice. Here, the Petitioner must show that there is "a reasonable probability they would have accepted the ... plea offer [and] must also show that, if the prosecution had the discretion to cancel it or if the trial court had the discretion to refuse to accept it, there is a reasonable probability neither the prosecution nor the trial court would have prevented the offer from being accepted or implemented." Frye, 566 U.S. at 148. The Petitioner submits that this burden has been met. He unquestionably would have accepted the plea offer had he known its full terms, as all parties agreed that his desire was to avoid the high floor set by what he believed to be the negotiated sentencing range.