STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 23 2018

Certiorari to Lexington County
Court of Common Pleas
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-001742
Lower Court Case No. 2015-CP-32-1885

Juan Arroyo, #354538,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the State Grand Jury Clerk of Court. Petitioner was indicted at the September 2010 term of the State Grand Jury on seven counts including trafficking heroin, possession with intent to distribute heroin, and conspiracy. (2010-GS-47-4707). Petitioner initially proceeded to trial on November 15, 2011, before the Honorable William P. Keesley. A mistrial was declared after the State solicited testimony from an agent concerning other crimes unrelated to the charge being tried. Judge Keesley ruled that, although unintentional and inadvertent, the State violated an agreement with defense counsel that they would not mention controlled narcotics buys from other parts of the investigation. Petitioner was then retried on March 4th-5th, 2013, where he was convicted. Judge Keesley sentenced Petitioner to the mandatory minimum sentence of twenty-five (25) years' imprisonment.

A Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf on March 14, 2013. Benjamin John Tripp, Esquire, represented Petitioner on appeal, and submitted a final brief and petition to be relieved as counsel pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. State v. Arroyo, Op. No. 2014-UP-338 (S.C. Ct. App. filed September 24, 2014). The remittitur was also sent on September 24, 2014.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief on May 22, 2015. On April 18, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Robert E. Hood. Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Counsel Debra R. Chapman and Bradley M. Kirkland also testified. On June 2, 2017, Judge Hood issued an Order of Dismissal, denying relief. Petitioner

served and filed a notice of appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed on March 22, 2018. This Return follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

Counsel properly conveyed all plea offers made by the State to Petitioner. Regardless, Petitioner would not have accepted the alleged plea offer of a recommended sentencing range of 14 to 18 years.

Petition argues the PCR court erred in failing to find Counsel failed to convey a plea offer of a recommended sentencing range of 14 to 18 years imprisonment. The State only made an offer of a negotiated, *not* recommended, sentencing range of 14 to 18 years, so the alleged offer did not exist and was never presented to Counsel. Furthermore, Petitioner did not meet his burden in proving that he would have accepted the alleged offer if it had been made.

A. Relevant Law

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

B. Discussion

1. Counsel Chapman and Kirkland conveyed all plea offers made by the State to Petitioner.

There is probative evidence to support the PCR court's findings that Counsel fully conveyed all plea offers to Petitioner. First, the premise of Petitioner's argument is faulty.

Petitioner argues that Counsel were ineffective for failing to advise him that Petitioner could require the State and the Court to accept a recommended sentencing range of 14 to 18 years. The State is generally not bound by any plea offers until they are accepted, that is when a defendant pleads guilty. “Both the South Carolina Constitution and South Carolina case law place the unfettered discretion to prosecute solely in the prosecutor's hands.” Ex parte Harrell v. Attorney Gen. of State, 409 S.C. 60, 69, 760 S.E.2d 808, 812 (2014). “The Judicial Branch is not empowered to infringe on the exercise of this prosecutorial discretion; however, on occasion, it is necessary to review and interpret the results of the prosecutor's actions.” Id. It is ultimately in the State’s discretion of whether to make any plea offers. Id. Plea agreements rest upon contract principles. State v. Thrift, 312 S.C. 282, 440 S.E.2d 341 (1994). The plea agreement exists only as an “offer” until the defendant accepts by entering into a court-approved guilty plea; until which point neither the State, the defendant, nor the court are bound by the plea agreement. Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 511 S.E.2d 396 (Ct. App. 1999) (citations omitted). Here, the court could not have required the State to allow Petitioner to plead guilty to a recommended sentencing range of 14 to 18 years. See Custodio v. State, 373 S.C. 4, 10, 644 S.E.2d 36, 39 (2007) (Absent an actual plea of guilty, a defendant may enforce an oral plea agreement upon a showing of detrimental reliance on a prosecutorial promise in plea bargaining. The State may withdraw a plea offer at any time prior to the court accepting the defendant’s plea.). Petitioner did not present any evidence that the State would have agreed to a recommended, rather than negotiated range.

Second, Petitioner failed to present persuasive evidence that a valid and enforceable plea offer of a recommended sentencing range of 14 to 18 years ever existed. This is fatal to Petitioner’s argument as he has failed to meet his burden of production. The PCR court properly

found that the final and most favorable plea offer from the State was the negotiated 14 to 18 year range. This finding is supported by both Counsel Chapman and Kirkland's credible testimony that the plea offer was for a negotiated sentencing range of 14 to 18 years, *not* a recommended range. (App. p. 633; 714). Petitioner points to the written plea agreement which states, "The parties have negotiated the sentence of Defendant, Juan Rodolpho Arroyo, for a recommended sentencing range of fourteen (14) to eighteen (18) years." (App. p. 739). Petitioner argues that this handwritten addendum should have controlled the outcome of the case. Counsel Chapman explained that the offer was never for a recommended range and that the prosecutor on the case would not allow Petitioner to plead to a recommended range. (App. p. 630-31; 633-34).

Further, the proposed sentencing sheet that accompanied the plea agreement had "Negotiated 14-18" written on it and had the "Negotiated Sentence" box checked which further shows the offer was a negotiated range, not a recommended range. (App. p. 656-67; 633-34). This was considered by the PCR court as Judge Hood was the one who pointed this out and elicited the response from Counsel Chapman at the hearing. (App. p. 656-58). Finally, Counsel Chapman testified that she reviewed all plea offers with Petitioner and that he was not willing to accept them. (App. p. 632; 648). In conclusion, while the plea agreement used the word "recommended," it is clear after examining Counsels' testimony and the sentencing sheet that the State's offer was for a negotiated range of 14 to 18 years.

2. Petitioner failed to prove that he would have accepted an offer for a recommended range of 14 to 18 years' imprisonment.

"Counsel's failure to convey a plea offer constitutes deficient performance." Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 609, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009). However, prejudice is determined on a case-by-case approach in order to determine whether

"[B]ut for counsel's deficient performance a defendant would have accepted the

State's proposed plea bargain and that he would have benefitted from the offer. Because presumed prejudice is reserved to very limited situations . . . a defendant must show actual prejudice. However, it is not always necessary for a defendant to offer objective evidence to support a claim of actual prejudice. Instead, depending on the facts of the case, a defendant's self-serving statements may be sufficient to establish actual prejudice." Davie, 381 S.C. at 613, 675 S.E.2d at 422 (citations omitted).

Even assuming this offer was not conveyed, the PCR court found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof to show that he would have accepted the offer. Petitioner's testimony at the PCR hearing that he would have accepted a recommended range was inconsistent with his written letters to Counsel. (App. p. 745-48) (Petitioner writing to Counsel Chapman that his "final decision" would be to go to trial unless he is offered a "time served plea."). It was also inconsistent with what he told Counsel while plea negotiations were on-going. (App. p. 629-30; 648; 682; 699-702). Still, Petitioner's testimony regarding the alleged plea offer was varying and found not credible by the PCR court. "We give great deference to a judge's findings when matters of credibility are involved since we lack the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses." Solomon v. State, 313 S.C. 526, 443 S.E.2d 540, 542 (1994). Petitioner asks this Court to reject the factual and credibility findings made by the PCR court. Those findings are clearly supported by the record. Petitioner's letter and Counsels' testimony is consistent with the fact that Petitioner was not happy with the plea offer, decided to go to trial, and wanted to put his fate in "God's hand." (App. p. 648; 684; 702; 711-12; 727-28). Despite Counsels' extensive efforts to convince Petitioner to accept the plea offer, he rejected it and decided to go to trial. (App. p. 628; 630-32; 711-14).

As noted above, Petitioner also failed to show that there was a "reasonable probability that the plea offer would have been presented to the court, that the court would have accepted its terms, and that the conviction and sentence under the offer's terms would have been less severe

than under the actual judgment and sentencing imposed.” Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 182 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2012). In sum, even assuming that the alleged plea offer existed, Petitioner failed to prove he would have accepted a recommended sentencing range of 14 to 18 years. Certiorari is not warranted to address this issue.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court’s ruling as there is ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court’s denial of Petitioner’s application. Should this Court grant Certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to fully brief the issue discussed above.